
Electoral 
Provisions Sub-

Committee

       A meeting of the above Sub-Committee will be held on

Tuesday 31 October 2017

at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford

Managing Director
23 October 2017

Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk

Councillor C J Shippam (Chairman)
Councillor D Swinerd (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor J S Hawkes
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor B E Read 

Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor R J Wells 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR

To: All Members of Electoral Provisions Sub-committee

A meeting of the Sub-committee will be held on:

Date: Tuesday 31st October 2017
Time: 7.00 pm
Venue: Civic Centre, Dartford

The Agenda is set out below:

A G E N D A 
1. Apologies for Absence 

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. Declarations of Interests 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
term(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Minutes (Pages 1 - 6)
To agree the minutes of the last meeting of the Sub-committee held 
on 17 September 2014.

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda.

5. New Polling Districts for Greenhithe Ward (Pages 7 - 14)
To consider for recommendation to the General Assembly of the 
Council the creation of two new polling districts and the 
reconfiguration of existing polling districts in Greenhithe Ward and a 
revised definition of a polling place.

6. Parliamentary Boundary Review 2018 - Revised Proposals for New 
Parliamentary Constituency Boundaries (Pages 15 - 18)
To advise Members of the latest stage in the review of Parliamentary 
constituency boundaries by the Boundary Commission for England 
and the implications for Dartford.







1 

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Wednesday 17 September 2014. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Anthony Wells (Chairman) 
Councillor Chris Shippam (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Keith Martin Kelly 
Councillor Geoffrey T Prout 
Councillor Drew Swinerd 
Councillor Matthew Davis 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor Peter John Cannon 
Councillor Bryan E Read 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
 Graham Harris – Managing Director 
 Alan Twyman – Member Services Manager 
 Jeanette Stephens – Electoral Services Manager 

 
 

7. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Cannon and Read. 
 

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 
There were no declarations of interests. 
 

9. MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 11 JUNE 2014  
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Sub-committee held on 11 June 2014 were 
agreed as an accurate record. 
 

10. URGENT ITEMS  
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

11. REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2014  
 
The Member Services Manager reminded the Sub-committee that under the 
Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 there was a requirement to 
hold full statutory reviews of Polling Districts and Polling Places every five 
years. The current review was nearing completion and Members were asked 
to consider the outcome of the public consultation exercise carried out in July 
and early August, the (Acting) Returning Officer’s final comments and 
proposals and to formulate recommendations for consideration by the General 
Assembly of the Council on 6 October 2014. 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
 

2 

 
Members were also reminded of the matters considered by the Sub-
committee at its last meeting on 11 June 2014 and in particular the issues 
relating to the polling stations located at the Methodist Church Hall (Sutton-at-
Hone Polling District (MB)) and the temporary mobile unit located in New Barn 
West Polling District (IC) at the junction of Nuthatch and Shearwater and the 
reasons which it had been proposed to continue to use these locations. The 
Sub-committee had also agreed to the principle of polling places being 
defined as a geographical zone of 250 metres from the current location of 
each permanent polling station. These proposals were included in the public 
consultation document. Any member of the public and any interested 
organisation had been able to participate in the consultation exercise and the 
Council had also written to a number of organisations with expertise or 
experience of accessibility for the disabled as part of the consultation along 
with local political parties, the local MP, Town and Parish Councils and 
Sevenoaks District Council (part of which was in the Dartford parliamentary 
constituency) and Kent County Council and other stakeholders. 
 
A total of ten responses had been received of which three were merely 
acknowledgements of the invitation to comment, four had not proposed any 
changes (including Kent County Council and Sevenoaks District Council) and 
three had objected to the location of two polling stations within the proposed 
polling places. The responses were detailed in the appendices to the report.   
The Sub-committee considered the issues raised by the respondents relating 
to the location of mobile polling units at the amenity area opposite Betsham 
House (Southfleet West Polling District (IB)) and at the junction of Nuthatch 
and Shearwater (New Barn West Polling District (IC)). 
 
In respect of the use of the amenity area opposite Betsham House a strong 
objection had been made by the owner of the property which was immediately 
adjacent to the mobile unit on the grounds that the position of the unit and 
associated portaloo was disruptive and invasive, and in relation to the noise 
and pollution associated with using a generator and external lighting during 
the European elections. The respondent had suggested an alternative 
location on the car park across the road by a BT phone box. A second 
respondent had also objected to the positioning of the mobile unit as she felt 
that it obscured vision to the right at the road junction when wishing to turn left 
at the crossroad towards Southfleet station. It was accepted that the location 
of this unit was not ideal but had been necessitated following housing 
development of the former Colyers Arms public house which had previously 
been the polling place. No other suitable alternative location had been 
identified within the polling district and the current location had the advantage 
of being a short distance from the former location with which local voters were 
familiar. The suggested alternative location by the BT phone box had been 
examined but it would not physically be possible to locate a temporary unit in 
the space available. However it was accepted that the siting of the unit on the 
amenity area at the European election had been poor, partly because the 
contractor had been challenged by a local resident during installation and as a 
result had moved the siting further back and closer to the neighbouring 
properties and had positioned it so that it faced the properties rather than the 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
 

3 

road, which had not been specified. In future the unit would be sited facing the 
road and as far away as possible from the houses whilst ensuring good 
sightlines at the crossroads. The generator used had been an industry 
standard model. Every effort would be made in future to site the generator 
and portaloo as sensitively as possible and to ensure that external lighting 
was only used during the actual hours of darkness and switched off as soon 
as possible after the close of poll. 
 
The Sub-committee was reminded that although only one objection to the 
location of the mobile unit at the junction of Nuhatch and Shearwater had  
been received as a result of the consultation exercise, this had been the 
subject of further complaints which had previously been reported in detail to 
the Sub-committee and details were also repeated in the report. Whilst 
recognising the concerns raised it had not been possible to identify a better, 
suitable alternative location in the polling district and for this reason it was 
proposed to retain the current location. 
 
A member raised concerns about polling arrangements in Greenhithe polling 
district arising from the increasing number of residents in the area and the 
needs of residents of Ingress Park. Members were reminded that the Sub-
committee had previously rejected proposals to re-locate the polling place 
from the mobile unit at Eagles Road car park to the Dance Union Studio. This 
would have provided a larger and more suitable polling venue but the Sub-
committee had rejected this because the location was further away from 
Ingress Park and if a decision was taken to create a new polling district by 
splitting Greenhithe at a future date, possibly with a polling station at the 
proposed Community Centre in Ingress Park, making a change now could 
lead to voter confusion. It was however recognised that significant 
development was proposed for the Borough in the medium to long term which 
would have implications for electoral arrangements and that this would 
probably require an examination of warding and boundaries. 
 
 RESOLVED: 
 
1. That the Sub-committee notes the public consultation document issued 

as part of the Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2014 
(Appendix A). 

2  That the Sub-Committee notes the responses submitted during the 
consultation exercise (Appendices B and C) and the recommendations 
of the (Acting) Returning Officer as to the location of Polling Districts and 
Polling Places (Appendix D) in light of the submissions received and the 
(Acting) Returning Officer’s comments. 

3. That the Sub-committee endorses and recommends the proposals by the 
(Acting) Returning Officer contained in Appendix D for Polling Districts 
and Polling Places for agreement by the General Assembly of the Council 
on 6 October 2014.               

 
 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
 

4 

 
12. INDIVIDUAL ELECTORAL REGISTRATION - UPDATE  

 
The Sub-committee received an update on progress with the introduction of 
Individual Electoral Registration (IER) in Dartford. 
 
Members were reminded of the background to the introduction of IER which 
was the most fundamental change to electoral registration processes for a 
century and would require everyone to register individually in future and to 
provide their name, date of birth and national insurance number. These 
details would have to be successfully verified against data held by the 
Department of Works and Pensions (DWP) before a person could be added to 
the electoral register and where this data did not match or was not provided 
the applicant would have to supply certain documentation to verify their 
identity before they could be registered. 
 
In order to make this process easier for most people each local authority had 
submitted the data held on its current electoral register in June/July to the 
DWP and where entries matched information held by DWP these electors 
were automatically transferred across to the transitional electoral register and 
would not have to take any further action. In Dartford’s case it had been 
possible to transfer 67,514 voters in this way by confirming their information 
with DWP or by matching locally held data. Unfortunately 6,384 people had 
not been confirmed and had been invited to register under the new system. 
Where people had not been transferred to the new register and had failed to 
re-register they would not be removed from the electoral register until 
December 2015 but would lose their existing entitlement to a postal or proxy 
vote. This would ensure that nobody who had previously been registered, with 
the exception of people who had failed to respond to the annual household 
canvass in the previous year (carry-forwards), would be removed from the 
register before the May 2015 elections. 
 
The Sub-committee was reminded that the introduction of IER was a 
particularly challenging project because of the scale and fundamental nature 
of the change, and the very tight timetable. The decision to go-ahead with IER 
had only received ministerial approval in December 2013 and much of the 
secondary legislation and guidance had not been made until Spring 2014 and 
changes to electoral management software were being made and tested up 
until the IER go-live date and were unproven. IER also required more 
extensive issuing of letters and forms to confirm every aspect of the 
registration process and to chase non-responders. The wording on most of 
these forms was prescribed by the Government as was the A3 format of the 
main forms, Household Enquiry Forms (HEF’s) and Invitation to Register 
Forms (ITR’s). The content of these forms was only finalised a few weeks 
before going live. 
 
Given these factors, and that administrators would be implementing 
fundamentally different and new processes, it was always known that the 
transition to IER would be challenging and difficult. There was also concern 
that the grant provided to local authorities by Government would be 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
 

5 

insufficient to fully fund the introduction of IER and the ongoing additional 
costs. One of the major concerns had been about the capability of the Online 
Digital Service, the interface with DWP for data matching, but in practice this 
had worked as well as could be expected. However it had become apparent 
that some of the Electoral Management software systems were not coping 
well with the changes and in particular the Eros system supplied by Halarose 
which the Council uses. It had become clear that effort had focussed on the 
transition to IER but not on the day-to-day ongoing registration processes and 
fundamental difficulties have been experienced by the Electoral Services 
Team from day one as a result of problems with the system. The Sub-
committee was provided with details of some of these issues including an 
inability to produce registers and notices of alteration to meet statutory 
deadlines, change elector details or guarantee the integrity of the register. 
These were being addressed with Halarose and slowly being “fixed” on a 
piecemeal basis or through upgrades, although these frequently then 
identified other issues. The Electoral Services Manager and her team were 
dealing with these issues as well as possible as they arose and by 
considerable hard work and diligence, with strong support from the Council’s 
IT Department, by finding practical “workarounds” and the use of diagnostic 
tools. However this was particularly time-consuming and frustrating as 
progress was slow. The team were also receiving complaints from members 
of the public who did not like the prescribed wording of the forms and letters 
sent to them or found them confusing or repetitive, although this had been 
anticipated to a degree. 
 
Members were also briefed on the staffing arrangements in place in the 
Electoral Services Team and noted that the Team had been understrength 
due to the long term absence of a key member of staff who had recently 
resigned and that the team was relatively inexperienced and trying to deal 
with  these issues as well as a wider heavy electoral agenda. Whilst it was 
hoped to recruit a new member of staff shortly the Sub-committee recognised 
the heavy reliance upon the Electoral Services Manager. 
 
The Sub-committee sought clarification on some of the detail associated with 
IER in terms of the local data that could be used for data matching purposes 
and activities to try and ensure that people did not “fall-off” of the register, this 
included whether young people or specific geographical areas might be 
targeted. Current canvass arrangements were explained and the action taken 
during the transition period to promote awareness of registration and IER 
reported. Members were advised of the disappointing response rates to the 
current canvass which was much lower than under the previous registration 
system and the implications this had in terms of issuing and following up 
further rounds of reminders, both in terms of workloads and costs. Members 
also asked whether some form of compensation or penalties might by 
applicable given the failings of the electoral management software system but 
it was explained that the Council’s first priority was to work with the supplier, 
primarily through the intervention of the Cabinet Office which was addressing 
these problems with the supplier on behalf of all Halarose users, to resolve 
these issues and move forward.        
 



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

WEDNESDAY 17 SEPTEMBER 2014 
 
 

6 

The Sub-committee thanked the officers for the update on the introduction of 
IER and recorded their thanks to the Electoral Services Manager and her 
team for their hard work in dealing with these difficulties.                    
 
 

 
The meeting closed at 7.46 pm 

 
  

 
 

Councillor A Wells 
CHAIRMAN 



                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

NEW POLLING DISTRICTS FOR GREENHITHE WARD

WARD: GREENHITHE

1. Summary

  . 
1.1   This report seeks agreement to the creation of two new polling districts in 

Greenhithe ward and the reconfiguration of the existing polling districts. This is in 
response to the growth of the electorate in Greenhithe which means that the 
existing polling arrangements are not viable. The report also recommends 
amending the Council’s current definition of a polling place to allow the 
Returning Officer discretion to locate a polling station anywhere within the polling 
district.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1 That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to create two new 
Polling Districts in Greenhithe ward, DC Abbey (Ingress Park) and DD Cherry 
Orchard (Ebbsfleet), with the boundaries shown on the map at Appendix A to 
the report, with effect from the publication of the revised register of electors.

2.2 That the General Assembly of the Council is recommended to agree the re-
configuration of the existing polling districts, DA Greenhithe and DB Knockhall, 
with the boundaries shown in the Map at Appendix A to the report, with effect 
from the publication of the revised register of electors.

2.3    That the General Assembly of the Council be recommended to agree that the 
polling place for each polling district in the Borough should be defined as a 
“location within the polling district, unless special circumstances require 
otherwise”.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The population of the Borough is increasing rapidly due to development and 
in Greenhithe ward in particular this has resulted in a significant increase in 
the number of people who have registered to vote. Greenhithe ward is 
currently split into two polling districts, DA Greenhithe and DB Knockhall. At 
the time of the last Borough wide Review of Polling Districts and Polling 
Places in September 2014 there were 2,742 electors in DA Greenhithe 
polling district and 2,258 electors in Knockhall.

3.2. The Electoral Commission recommends that the upper limit for the number 
of electors voting at a polling station, of which there is one station per polling 
district, is 2,500 electors. Although the electorate in DA Greenhithe 
exceeded this figure in 2014 the existing arrangements remained viable 
once the number of postal voters was taken into account. No action was felt 
necessary at the time as it was deemed likely that the Borough would be 
subject to a Local Government Boundary Review which would look at 
electoral arrangements across the Borough.



                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

3.3. The Local Government Boundary Review is currently taking place and the 
Boundary Commission has recommended a Council size of 42 Members, a 
reduction of two. Revised warding arrangements are currently being 
developed and the recommended arrangements for submission to the Local 
Government Boundary Commission will be considered by the General 
Assembly of the Council on 20th November with the new electoral 
arrangements taking effect for the May 2019 elections.

3.4. During work on the Boundary Review it has become clear that each of the 
existing polling districts in Greenhithe ward now have too many electors and 
the existing arrangements would not be viable should a major election be 
held before May 2019. The current electorates in the two polling districts are 
2,970 for DA Greenhithe and 2,614 for DB Knockhall, above the 
recommended maximum level and this could increase by the end of the 
annual household canvass.

3.5. The Representation of the People Act 1983 places a duty on the Council to 
divide the borough into polling districts for the purposes of parliamentary 
elections and to designate a polling place for each district. The (Acting) 
Returning Officer is responsible for determining the location of the polling 
station within each polling place.

3.6.   The difference between a polling district, a polling place and a polling 
station is outlined below:

 A polling district is a geographical sub-division of an electoral 
area, i.e. a UK Parliamentary constituency, a European Parliamentary 
electoral region, a ward or an electoral division.

 A polling place is a geographical area in which a polling station 
is located. There is no legal definition of what a polling place is, the 
geographical area could be defined as tightly as a particular building or 
as widely as the entire polling district.

 A polling station is the actual area where the process of voting 
takes place, and must be located within the polling place designated for 
the particular polling district (unless special circumstances apply).

3.7. The situation in Greenhithe ward cannot wait for the new electoral 
arrangements to take effect in May 2019. Officers have looked again at the 
area and are proposing that two new polling districts be created and the two 
existing polling districts be reconfigured. In doing so a number of factors 
have been taken into account including communities, natural boundaries, 
accessibility and viability of electoral arrangements.

3.8. It is proposed that two new polling districts be created DC Abbey to serve 
electors in Ingress Park and DD Cherry Orchard to serve Ebbsfleet. This 



                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

would mean that Ingress Park would have its own polling district and polling 
place with a polling station located in the area, possibly at the new 
Community Centre when it opens or at a mobile unit. Currently electors have 
had to vote at the polling station located at the Bronze Inc Tanning Studio, 
which is on the furthest boundary of the existing polling district away from 
Ingress Park. The creation of a new polling district for the Ebbsfleet Garden 
City would serve this growing community. Currently electors in Ebbsfleet 
vote at the Royal British Legion Club on London Road but the new Cherry 
Orchard primary school is now open and contains a suitable room for use as 
a polling station for the new polling district.

3.9. The existing polling districts DA Greenhithe and DB Knockhall would be 
reconfigured accordingly and would retain their existing polling station 
locations. The boundaries of the new polling districts are shown in Appendix 
A.

3.10. The proposed new polling district would result in the following estimated 
numbers of electors in each of the polling districts: DA Greenhithe 1179, DB 
Knockhall 2,286, DC Abbey 1,791, and DD Cherry Orchard 348.    

3.11. The existing definition of a polling place for each polling district with a 
permanent polling station is that it should be an area within a 250 radius of 
the current polling station. The polling place for polling districts with 
temporary polling stations is defined as being “located within the polling 
district”. The 250 metre radius has proved to be too inflexible if the usual 
polling station is not available for any reason. The (Acting) Returning Officer 
is therefore seeking approval that in future the polling place for all polling 
districts within the Borough should be defined as “located within the polling 
district, unless special circumstances apply”. This would provide the (Acting) 
Returning Officer with more scope to find a suitable polling station should the 
normal station be unavailable for any reason.    

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To support good governance to provide high quality services in support of 
the objectives contained in the Corporate Plan.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The creation of two new polling districts will 
involve additional costs in hiring venues for two 
more polling stations and for staffing these 
stations. In terms of national elections these 
costs are recoverable from Central Government 
but would be an additional cost to the Council at 
Borough Council elections.  

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 



                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

Risk Assessment If new polling district arrangements are not 
introduced in Greenhithe ward this could 
compromise the effective delivery of elections 
taking place before May 2019.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendix

Appendix A – Map of Proposed new Polling District boundaries for 
Greenhithe Ward

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Twyman
Member Services 
Manager
 (01322) 343430

Member 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A



DC
Abbey

DA
Greenhithe

@ A4° 1:10,000

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Legal_Services\Electoral_Registration\New PDs_20170914\01_Project_Files\New_PDs_A4_Port_20170914.mxd
Map Produced By: tclark On: 28/09/2017 11:23 PM

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
7, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

  T
he

 Pr
op

ert
y I

nfo
rm

ati
on

 Te
am

, 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2017
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2017

Appendix A





DD
Cherry Orchard 

DB
Knockhall

@ A4° 1:17,500

X:\Data_Store\Departmental_Data\Legal_Services\Electoral_Registration\New PDs_20170914\01_Project_Files\New_PDs_A4_Port_20170914.mxd
Map Produced By: tclark On: 28/09/2017 11:28 PM

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
7, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

  T
he

 Pr
op

ert
y I

nfo
rm

ati
on

 Te
am

, 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2017
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2017





                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

PARLIAMENTARY BOUNDARY REVIEW 2018 – REVISED 
PROPOSALS FOR NEW PARLIAMENTARY CONSTITUENCY 
BOUNDARIES

1. Summary

 
1.1   This report advises Members of the revised proposals for new Parliamentary 

constituencies by the Boundary Commission for England at the latest stage of its 
periodic review of constituency boundaries across the country. The Boundary 
Commission is required to carry out a review of constituency boundaries every 5 
years to ensure that all constituencies fall within a core range of numbers of 
electors and meet particular criteria. The Commission’s proposals have been 
through two rounds of public consultation and their revised proposals are 
currently out for consultation after which the Commission will make its 
recommendations to the Government in September 2018 for implementation at 
the next General Election after that date.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Sub-committee notes the Boundary Commission’s Review of 
Parliamentary Boundaries and endorses the proposed boundary for the 
Dartford Parliamentary Constituency to be coterminous with the Borough 
boundary.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Boundary Commission for England is an independent and impartial non-
departmental public body which is required to carry out a review of 
parliamentary constituencies every 5 years according to rules set by 
Parliament and to make recommendations to the Government. The 
legislation that the Commission works to provides for a reduction in the 
number of constituencies across the UK by 50 and in England the number of 
constituencies will fall from 533 to 501. The Commission must also establish 
constituencies within an electorate range of 71,031 and 78,507, to be within 
5% of the mean electorate figure of 74,769. In practice these requirements 
will result in significant changes to boundaries across the country due to a 
ripple effect with changes to the boundaries of one constituency requiring 
changes to other constituencies.

3.2. The Boundary Commission may also have regard to existing local 
government boundaries (at 7 May 2015), special geographical 
considerations such as the size, shape and accessibility of a constituency, 
the boundaries of existing constituencies and any local ties that could be 
broken as a result of boundary changes.

3.3. The Commission published its initial proposals during a 12 week period from 
13 September to 5 December 2016 which included public hearings as well 
as taking written representations. The representations were published on 28 



                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

February 2017 for a 4 week period to allow anyone to comment on them 
before the Commission decided whether to revise any of its initial proposals. 
The Commission’s revised proposals are currently subject to a final stage of 
public consultation which began on 17 October and will run until 11 
December 2017. Following this the Commission will work up its final 
recommendations for submission to the Government with new arrangements 
being implemented at the next General Election after the recommendations 
have been agreed by parliament.

3.4. The Commission has conducted its review on a sub-regional basis, using the 
regional pattern employed for the most recent European elections. In the 
South Eastern Region the recommendations will result in a reduction of the 
number of constituencies from 84 to 83. However there will be some 
boundary changes in all but 20 of the existing constituencies due to the 
ripple effect of the changes. 

3.5. The existing Dartford constituency includes electors from the Sevenoaks 
District Council ward of Hartley & Hodsoll Street. The Commission’s initial 
proposal was that Hartley & Hodsoll Street should form part of the new 
Gravesham constituency which would mean that the Dartford parliamentary 
constituency would be coterminous with the existing Borough boundary. The 
Council responded to the initial consultation strongly supporting the proposal 
and citing the weakness of community ties between the ward and Dartford 
and benefit of having a clearly identifiable constituency for Dartford. The 
Commission has not changed its initial recommendation and as it stands 
their recommendation will be that the parliamentary and Dartford borough 
boundaries will be co-terminous.

3.6. The Commission’s report, recommendations and maps for the South East 
Region may be viewed on the Commission’s web site www.bce2018.org.uk 
and any representations can be made using the portal hosted by the web 
site.

3.7. Members should also be aware that the Council’s existing electoral 
arrangements are being reviewed by a separate body, the Local 
Government Boundary Commission (LGBC), which has accepted the 
Council’s recommendation for a reduction in Council size from 44 to 42 
Members. Proposed warding arrangements are currently being produced 
and will be reported to the General Assembly of the Council on 20 
November prior to submission to the LGBC. It is likely that an extensive 
review of polling districts and polling places will be required next year and 
that polling station locations may have to change in some areas in order to 
support the revised electoral arrangements.

4.     Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To support good governance to provide high quality services in support of 
the objectives contained in the Corporate Plan.

http://www.bce2018.org.uk/


                             
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB COMMITTEE

31 OCTOBER 2017

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The changed parliamentary constituency will 
mean that there will be no need for cross 
boundary working with Sevenoaks District 
Council during a General election with a small 
reduction in the cost as a result.  

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment None

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendix

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Boundary Commission for 
England consultation 
documents.

Alan Twyman
Member Services 
Manager
 (01322) 343430

Member 
Services/
Internal 
Services

N/A




	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 New Polling Districts for Greenhithe Ward
	Appendix A  -Part 1
	Appendix A - Part 2

	6 Parliamentary Boundary Review 2018 - Revised Proposals for New Parliamentary Constituency Boundaries

